# **RECEIVED** 07-03-2019

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP644

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DEANGELO D. TUBBS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable David Borowski, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CARLY M. CUSACK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1096479

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 cusackc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Was the warrantless search of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle permissible based on (1) probable cause that it contained contraband, or (2) reasonable suspicion to justify a protective search?

The circuit court denied Mr. Tubbs' suppression motion. (30:8-9; App.108-109).

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. This case does not meet the statutory criteria for publication. WIS. STAT. RULE 809.23(1)(b)4; § 752.31(2)(f).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Deangelo D. Tubbs pled guilty to the possession of THC, contrary to WIS. STAT. § 961.41(3g)(e). (11:1; 33:3). Before pleading, Mr. Tubbs sought to suppress the fruits of what he contended was an unlawful search of his vehicle. (3:1-5; 27:1-36; App.116-151).

### Suppression Hearing Testimony

At the suppression hearing, City of Milwaukee Police Officer Evan Domine testified that, while on bicycle patrol, he and five other officers conducted a stop of a vehicle based on its failure to display a front license plate. (27:8-10; App.123-125). Upon

approaching the vehicle, Officer Domine made contact with the sole occupant, identified as Mr. Tubbs, who was seated in the driver's seat. (27:10-11; App.125-26). Officer Domine testified that the windows of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle were up, and that he did not observe anyone else near the vehicle. (27:10-11; App.125-26).

Due to Officer Domine's position on his bicycle, he testified that he "was able to observe a firearm concealed below the window line," so he opened Mr. Tubbs' door and instructed him to show his hands. (27:12; App.127). Mr. Tubbs complied, and Officer Domine was able to determine that Mr. Tubbs' firearm was not stolen and that he had a valid concealed carry weapon ("CCW") permit. (27:13, 20; App.128, 135).

Officer Domine testified that he observed a digital scale near Mr. Tubbs' feet on the driver's side floorboard, "as well as the odor of fresh marijuana coming from inside the vehicle." (27:13; App.128). However, Officer Domine did not observe anything unusual about the digital scale, and he did not observe any drug residue on it. (27:22; App.137). Officer Domine agreed that it was not illegal to possess a digital scale "as [long] as it doesn't have any residue for narcotics that are testable[.]" (27:22; App.137). He testified he did not smell the odor of marijuana before he opened the door. (27:14-15; App.129-30). On cross-examination, Officer Domine testified: "if I didn't smell the odor of marijuana and I just saw the firearm, he produced a CCW permit, the

card, which I ran in my system came back valid, he would be completely valid." (27:20; App.135).

Officer Domine explained that he removed the firearm from Mr. Tubbs' lap, and then proceeded to search the vehicle "to further [his] investigation that there was suspected marijuana in the vehicle." (27:15; App.130). During the search of the vehicle, Officer Domine recovered a sealed glass mason jar containing two separate plastic baggies of suspected marijuana from Mr. Tubbs' closed center console. (27:15-16, 22-23; App.130-31, 137-38). The marijuana retrieved from Mr. Tubbs' vehicle was photographed and entered into evidence as Exhibit 1, depicted below:



(27:23-24; 5:1; App.138-39).

Defense counsel showed Officer Domine a standard Ball pickling jar that he agreed was "very similar in shape and size" to the jar found inside Mr. Tubbs' closed center console. (27:24-25; App.139-40). At ten feet away, five feet away, and then upon setting the jar on the witness stand, Officer Domine testified he was unable to smell anything coming out

of the jar. (27:25-26; App.140-41). When defense counsel opened the jar, Officer Domine maintained that he still was unable to smell anything. (27:26-27; App.141-42). Counsel explained for the record that there was lavender vanilla cleaner inside the jar. (27:27; App.142).

On redirect, Officer Domine explained that the observation of a firearm might be a concern for officers because, "As I don't know Mr. Tubbs at the time, I'm not sure if he's a CCW permit holder. I'm not sure if he's a valid gun owner, on probation or valid felon on probation. When I come into contact with people, it's just generally safer for the individual as well as myself to take the firearm, like I would say, out of your or remove it from the situation so there's no mixed signals between me and a citizen as to what's going on with that firearm at the time." (27:28; App.143).

After the redirect and recross of Officer Domine, the court asked trial counsel to put the lid of the jar back on, referencing the smell of the cleaner. (27:32; App.147). The court scheduled a date for argument and decision. (27:34; App.149).

# Suppression Arguments

On June 12, 2018, the court heard arguments from the parties. Defense counsel noted this case was "relatively straightforward. It's a case that just merely comes down to officer credibility, whether or not the court believes the testimony of the police officer that testified." (29:3; App.152). Counsel argued

that the fresh marijuana found in the center console of the car was sealed in a Ball pickling jar that was nearly identical to the demonstrative exhibit she introduced at the suppression hearing, which contained a pungent lavender vanilla-scented detergent. (29:5-6; App.153).

Defense counsel argued, "we don't have the ability to smell what the officer smelled on that particular day, but I think it's pretty clear that under these circumstances, either the officer didn't smell marijuana coming from the car in a sealed container inside the center console where marijuana was inside of a bag inside of a pickling jar, or he lied when he said that he couldn't smell any of the detergent emanating from the jar that I brought in my demonstrative." (29:7-8; App.153). Defense counsel asserted that Officer Domine's testimony was not credible, and that there was no probable cause for the search because he did not actually smell marijuana coming from the car. (29:8; App.153). Counsel pointed out that Ball pickling jars are "specifically made for pickling for food fermentation, otherwise combination of dill and onions and garlic would be an incredibly objectionable smell if not stored in this type of container which is exactly the type of container that is supposed to keep [in] smell." (29:8; App.153).

The state argued that the search was justified based on the smell of marijuana, the scale, and the gun. (29:17; App.156). The state also argued that a protective search of the vehicle was justified under

Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 1049 (1983), "given the scale, given the high crime area, given the fact they did smell marijuana and given the fact that Mr. Tubbs had a gun on his lap to indicate a quick search of the vehicle to ensure that there wasn't a firearm within the lunging distance of the car [sic]." (29:18; App.156).

The court followed up with a number of additional questions, during which time it noted that defense counsel's jar demonstration "was actually pretty good and theatrical[.]" (29:14; see also 29:22, "I mean, it was pretty good. It was pretty dramatic.") (App.155, 157). After hearing the rest of the parties' arguments, the court explained it wanted to "go back and listen to the testimony here because I have some questions about the—I'll listen to the recording about the sequencing of things. The demonstration was pretty effective. I give you that, [trial counsel]." (29:28) (App.158).

### Suppression Decision

On July 20, 2018, the parties returned for a decision. The court recited findings of fact, and concluded there was reasonable suspicion to approach Mr. Tubbs and take him out of the car. (30:7; App.107). Addressing the search of the center

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The reasonable suspicion for the stop, based on the missing front license plate, was not at issue below, nor is it being challenged in this appeal.

console where the marijuana was found, the court explained:

[T]he state justifies this extension of the next step on the smell of fresh marijuana and the discovery of a digital scale on the floor of the car. I don't give as much weight to the overt [sic<sup>2</sup>] testimony as perhaps the state does, but I do give some weight to a discovery of the scale, but it's just not a normal item to find in a car. A kitchen or a laboratory or a grocery store perhaps, but in combination with the odor, which, again, I don't give a lot of weight to, but I think at that point a limited search at the point of the area around the scale of Mr. Tubbs is permissible. So I think the search is objectively reasonable whether or not it's for guns and drugs.

Now the smell of evidence was impeached by a very clever demonstration and whether at that point I certainly wanted to grant the motion based on that, but the facts here is that there is a scale and a gun and I think that dictates the results here.

So my conclusions are as follows.

Number one, there was reasonable suspicion to stop or approach Mr. Tubbs and get him out of the car; and two, once he was removed, the discovery of the digital scale on the floor and the smell of marijuana, although less on the latter, allowed the officer to search the immediate area

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Undersigned counsel believes, based on context, that the court said, "odor," rather than "overt," particularly given the following line: "in combination with the odor, which, *again*, I don't give a lot of weight to…" (30:8; App.108) (emphasis added).

for contraband or a gun. So I have to deny the motion.

(30:8-9; 31:2; App.108-109, 114).

Defense counsel asked for clarification: "Well, just to be clear for the record, Judge, you are finding Officer Domine's testimony that he did smell at some level the distinct scent of fresh marijuana as part of your finding?" (30:9; App.109). The court answered, "I think I said what I needed to say." (30:9; App.109).

## Plea and Sentencing

Mr. Tubbs pled guilty to possession of THC and was fined \$500. (33:3, 17; 11:1-2). He filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, and this appeal follows. (10:1; 18:1). Additional facts will be referenced as necessary below.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. This Court should reverse and remand the circuit court's order denying suppression because (1) there was no probable cause to believe that Mr. Tubbs' vehicle contained evidence of a crime, and (2) there was no reasonable suspicion to justify a protective search.

### A. Relevant law and standard of review

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee the right to be free from unreasonable searches. Under the Fourth Amendment. warrantless searches are per unreasonable absent the application of a wellrecognized exception to the warrant requirement. State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, ¶27, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713. The state bears the burden to prove that an exception to the warrant requirement applies. State v. Denk, 2008 WI 130, ¶36, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 758 N.W.2d 775. Where an unlawful search or seizure occurs, the remedy is to suppress the evidence produced. State v. Carroll, 2010 WI 8, ¶19, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1; Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88 (1963).

At issue in this case is the scope of the "automobile exception" to the warrant requirement. Under the automobile exception, vehicles may be searched without a warrant if probable cause exists to believe the vehicle contains evidence of a crime.

State v. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d 201, ¶16, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999). Wisconsin law establishes that the odor of marijuana is sufficient to provide probable cause to search the passenger compartment of a vehicle. *Id.* at ¶17.

In addition, law enforcement is allowed to conduct a protective search of a person and a vehicle for weapons when an officer has a "reasonable belief based on, 'specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant' the officer in believing that the suspect is dangerous and the suspect may gain immediate control of weapons." *Long*, 463 U.S. 1032, 1049, (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968)); see also State v. Kyles, 2004 WI 15, 269 Wis. 2d 1, 675 N.W.2d 449. Courts "decide on a case-by-case basis, evaluating the totality of the circumstances, whether an officer had reasonable suspicion to justify a protective search in a particular case." *Kyles*, 269 Wis. 2d 1, ¶5.

Appellate review of a circuit court's order on a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134,  $\P27$ , 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. First, this court upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous. *Id.* Second, this court independently applies constitutional principles to the facts. *Id.* 

B. The evidence obtained during the warrantless search of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle must be suppressed because the officer did not have probable cause to search the vehicle based on the belief that it contained evidence of a crime.

In denying Mr. Tubbs' suppression motion, the circuit court explained that the discovery of the digital scale, in combination with the odor of marijuana—despite repeatedly minimizing its reliance on the odor—justified a limited search "at the point of the area around the scale[.]" (30:8, 31:2; App.108, 114). However, the circuit court explicitly found that the odor of marijuana claim was impeached by the defense's demonstration, and it indicated that "at that point I certainly wanted to grant the motion based on that[.]" (30:8; App.108).

Nevertheless, the circuit court explained that "the facts here is [sic] that there is a scale and a gun and I think that dictates the results here." (30:8; App.108). It concluded, "the discovery of the digital scale on the floor and the smell of marijuana, although less on the latter, allowed the officer to search the immediate area for contraband or a gun." (30:9; 31:2; App.109, 114).

Here, the circuit court made a credibility finding when it stated that the smell of evidence was impeached by the demonstrative exhibit, and that it wanted to grant the defense's suppression motion at that point in the hearing. (30:8; App.108). This

credibility finding is not inherently incredible. See State v. Jacobs, 2012 WI App 104, ¶17, 344 Wis. 2d 142, 822 N.W.2d 885. (On appeal, this Court accepts the circuit court's credibility determinations unless the testimony relied upon is inherently or patently incredible.); see also Chapman v. State, 29 Wis. 2d 581, 583, 230 N.W.2d 824 (1975) ("To be incredible as a matter of law, evidence must be '...in conflict with the uniform course of nature or with fully established or conceded facts."). As a result, the circuit court's reliance—albeit, minimized reliance—on the smell of marijuana in setting forth its findings of fact and conclusions of law was clearly erroneous, as it was contradicted by its own credibility finding. See WIS. STAT. § 805.17(2); State v. Eckert, 203 Wis. 2d 497, 518, 553 N.W.2d 539 (Ct. App. 1996).

C. The presence of a digital scale and a lawful weapon alone were insufficient to establish probable cause that Mr. Tubbs' vehicle contained evidence of a crime.

In order to establish probable cause to conduct a warrantless search under the automobile exception, there must be a "fair probability" that law enforcement will find evidence in a particular place. State v. Pallone, 2000 WI 77, ¶74, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568, overruled on other grounds by State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. Here, there was no fair probability that law enforcement would find evidence in Mr. Tubbs' car based only on the observation of a scale that did not have any discernable drug residue, and where,

prior to the search, the officer had determined that Mr. Tubbs had a valid permit for CCW and his firearm was not stolen.<sup>3</sup> (27:13, 20, 22; App. 128, 135, 137).

In State v. Jackson, 2013 WI App 66, ¶3, 348 Wis. 2d 103, 831 N.W.2d 426, police stopped a defendant for multiple traffic violations. An officer testified that when he approached the vehicle, Jackson was the driver and his window was rolled down. Id. The officer testified that he smelled fresh marijuana coming from inside the car. Id. After Jackson stepped out of the car, the officer searched Jackson's person and the inside of the passenger compartment, finding in the center console a digital scale covered in marijuana residue and nearly two thousand dollars in small denominations. Id. The officer testified that he subsequently began searching in the back seat, where he believed the odor of fresh marijuana got stronger. Id. at ¶4. Upon failing to discover additional drug paraphernalia in backseat, the officer opened the trunk of the car, and found marijuana. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Vill. of Somerset v. Hoffman, No.2015AP140, unpublished slip op. at ¶20 n.12 (WI App May 17, 2016) (noting "the mere fact a person is carrying a firearm cannot itself be evidence of criminal or malicious intent.") (App.165). Cited for persuasive value only, in accordance with Wis. Stat. §§ 809.23(3)(b) and (c).

The circuit court in *Jackson* granted the defense's motion to suppress evidence, reasoning that:

Now, we know, and I have heard it in so many cases, they come with these multiple police officers, multiple cars and they stop somebody for a small traffic violation and then they go on from that. They admit doing that....

Maybe it's good practice, maybe it's bad practice, but it is a canvassing practice, a Dragnet practice, pull everybody in and hopefully find something, and I don't know all the cases where they don't find something....

In every case we're getting these super sniffer police officers that can smell marijuana through trunks, through bags, anyplace and it's testing their credibility as an officer....

Now, I have had cases, even trials where I have had the marijuana laying right out on this counter here, and the bags it was in and everything, and I can't smell it, nor can anybody in the courtroom, but these officers have this super sniff ability so that's what we have.

And we have to question credibility.

I'm not, under our Constitution and our city, going to let these officers just go out and canvas and do whatever they want to do in violation of the Fourth Amendment, just keep going further and further....

Id. at ¶5. The state appealed, and this Court reversed, based on the determination that the other evidence found in the passenger compartment of the car, aside from the alleged odor—\$1961 in small

denominations, and a digital scale covered in marijuana residue—gave the police probable cause to search the trunk. Id. at ¶¶7, 11. As a result, this Court did not decide whether the officer had testified truthfully regarding the odor of marijuana. Id.

Unlike in *Jackson*, this case did not involve a sufficient confluence of other factors that established probable cause for the search, independent of the smell of marijuana. The circuit court here seemed to believe otherwise, stating "there is a scale and a gun and I think that dictates the result here." (30:8; App.108). However, the discovery of a digital scale and a legally owned gun in the possession of a person with a valid CCW permit, without more, was insufficient to establish probable cause to justify the warrantless search. Absent the odor of marijuana, the police lacked probable cause to search the passenger compartment of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle.

D. Under the totality of the circumstances, there was no reasonable suspicion to justify a protective search of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle for weapons.

The circuit court's ruling appears to also conclude that the search of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle was lawful based on reasonable suspicion to conduct a protective search for weapons.<sup>4</sup> (30:8-9; App.108-109)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This ruling is not particularly clear, however, during the court's remarks preceding its decision, the court noted the state had "theorize[d] that the search was permissible because (continued)

("the search is objectively reasonable whether or not it's for guns and [sic] drugs" and "...allowed the officer to search the immediate area for contraband or a gun."). However, under the totality of the circumstances that existed in this case, the six police officers involved in Mr. Tubbs' stop lacked an objectively reasonable suspicion that Mr. Tubbs was dangerous and may have immediate access to a weapon. See State v. Buchanan, 2011 WI 49, 334 Wis. 2d 379, 799 N.W.2d 775; (27:8; 123).

The police seized Mr. Tubbs' lawful gun at the beginning of their interaction with him, the sole occupant of his vehicle. (27:10, 15; App.125, 130). Officer Domine testified that one of his first questions addressed whether Mr. Tubbs had a CCW permit, and the police determined Mr. Tubbs answered honestly when he said he did. (27:12-13, 20; App.127-28, 135). There was no testimony that Mr. Tubbs had dipped his body, made furtive movements, or was excessively nervous prior to or during his stop. (27:4-35; App.119-150); See Buchanan, 334 Wis. 2d. at ¶¶11-12, 19. Rather, the sole basis for the stop was the lack of front license plate, and Mr. Tubbs was acquiescent throughout the stop, complying with the request that he put his hands up, and providing

the police were entitled to the console serving [sic] as an extended *Terry* search to protect the officer's safety." (30:5; 29:17-19; App.105, 156). Therefore, to the extent that the court's ruling denying the suppression motion incorporated a conclusion that the search was a lawful protective search, Mr. Tubbs seeks review.

police his valid driver's license and CCW permit. (27:10, 12-13, 20, 29; App.125, 127-28, 135, 144). Officer Domine did not feel the need to pat down Mr. Tubbs' person. (27:15; App.130). Officer Domine testified he had not received any reports that linked Mr. Tubbs' vehicle with any drug activity. (27:19; App.134).

As a result, once police took control of Mr. Tubbs' legal firearm, and verified his CCW permit, there was no reason to believe that Mr. Tubbs was dangerous and could gain immediate control of additional weapons. Under the totality of the circumstances in this case, the police lacked a reasonable belief, based on specific and articulable facts which reasonably warranted an officer in believing that Mr. Tubbs was dangerous and may gain immediate control of weapons. *Long*, 463 U.S. 1032, 1049. Therefore, the subsequent police search of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle cannot be justified as a protective search, because police did not have reasonable suspicion to justify a protective search under these circumstances. *Kyles*, 269 Wis. 2d 1, ¶5.

#### CONCLUSION

The search of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle occurred without a warrant and outside any recognized exception to the warrant requirement. The police did not have probable cause to believe that Mr. Tubbs' vehicle contained evidence of a crime, nor did police have reasonable suspicion to justify a protective search of Mr. Tubbs' vehicle. For the reasons stated above, Mr. Tubbs respectfully requests that this Court reverse and remand to the circuit court with directions to suppress the evidence discovered in the illegal vehicle search, and permit Mr. Tubbs to withdraw his plea.