RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

08-14-2019

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No: 2019AP644

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DEANGELO D TUBBS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. ADAMS PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Claire G. Roehre Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1103202 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was there reasonable suspicion to stop or approach Deangelo D. Tubbs and remove him from the vehicle to justify a protective search?

Trial Court answered: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on the issues. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not be eligible for publication. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 8, 2019, Tubbs moved to suppress the fruits of what he contended was an unlawful search of his vehicle. (R3:1-5; 27:1-36).

Suppression Hearing Testimony

On Thursday, June 15, 2017, at approximately 8:30 p.m., City of Milwaukee Police Officer Evan Domine, along with five other officers, each a part of a District 7 proactive bicycle unit, observed a vehicle without a front license plate displayed on the front bumper area. (R27:8-10; R27:27). As a result of the Wisconsin traffic violation, officers conducted a stop in the City and County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin. (R27:10; R27:12).

Officers approached the vehicle and Officer Domine made contact with the sole occupant observed seated in the driver's seat. (R27:10-11). During his approach, Officer Domine was seated on his bicycle and was able to observe a firearm concealed below the window line located on the occupant's lap. (R27:12, R:27-19). For officer safety, Officer Domine immediately opened the driver's door and instructed the occupant to show his hands. *Id.* The occupant was identified via Wisconsin ID card as Deangelo D. Tubbs. (R27:11). Officer Domine determined the firearm was not stolen and Tubbs had a valid CCW permit. (R27:13; R27:20).

Because Officer Domine was standing directly in the door wedge between the driver and the driver door, he observed the odor of fresh marijuana coming from inside the vehicle.

(R27:13-14). While speaking with Tubbs, Officer Domine observed a digital scale near his feet on the driver side floorboard. (R27:13) As a result of the detection of marijuana, Officer Domine searched the vehicle to further his investigation of suspected marijuana in the vehicle. (R27:15). During the search, Officer Domine located a glass mason jar of suspected marijuana in the closed center console of the vehicle. (R27:15-16, R:27-22). The suspected marijuana was in two separate plastic baggies within the glass mason jar. (R27:22). After the investigation concluded on the street, an Officer tested the suspected marijuana using Narco Pouch Number 5, testing for THC, which tested positive. *Id*. The amount of THC recovered that evening was just over 25 grams in total. *Id*.

Officer Domine testified he had been a police officer with the City of Milwaukee for just over three years. (R27:4). During his training and experience as an officer, he had come into contact with marijuana over 500 times. (R27:6). This training involved detecting the odor of marijuana:

Officer Domine: It's generally a pungent smell. People relate it to the smell of skunk, but that, you know, you can definitely tell the smell of marijuana when it's there and fresh.

State: And you say when it's fresh. Is there any other manner in which you might recover marijuana?

Officer Domine: Yes, we come in contact – into contact with the odor of burnt marijuana very often when conducting vehicle stops.

State: And the odor of burnt marijuana compared to the odor of fresh marijuana, is that something in your training and experience you're able to discern?

Officer Domine: Yes.

State: How so?

Officer Domine: The odor of burnt marijuana has just a different smell because it's almost of a smell of char or that you can smell burning.

State: And similarly, how would you describe the odor of fresh marijuana?

Officer Domine: Again, fresh marijuana, you can smell. It's very particular, there's nothing that smells exactly the same emitting that smell.

(R27:6-7).

On cross examination, Defense counsel introduced a jar, similar to the jar located inside Tubbs' vehicle. (R27:24-25). Defense counsel stood with the jar approximately ten feet and then five feet away from Officer Domine, who testified he was unable to smell anything coming from the jar. (R27:25). When the jar was opened and placed approximately one foot away from Officer Domine, he testified he was still unable to smell anything coming from the jar. (R27:26-27). Defense counsel put on the record that the jar contained a lavender vanilla scented cleaner. (R27:27).

Suppression Arguments

On June 12, 2018, the court heard oral arguments from both parties. (R29:1-30). Defense counsel argued that this case comes down to officer credibility, whether or not Officer Domine was lying when he said he could smell the marijuana coming from the car or whether he was lying when he took the stand and said that he still couldn't smell it coming from the jar. (R29:7). Defense asserted that Officer Domine's testimony was not credible, and given that there was no presence of a dog or other smelling aids to enhance the sense of smell, there was no probable cause for the search because Officer Domine did not actually smell marijuana coming from the car. (R29:8). Defense believed Officer Domine fabricated the smell of marijuana and the jar demonstration undermined Officer Domine's credibility. (R29:13-15).

The State argued that the search was justified based on the odor of fresh marijuana, the scale on the floorboard, and the gun. (R29:16-17). Referencing *Michigan V. Long*, 463 U.S. 1032 (1983), the State argued that "it's reasonable for officers to make a cursory search of that vehicle, given the high crime area, given the fact that they did smell marijuana, and given the fact that Mr. Tubbs had a gun on his lap to indicate a quick search of the vehicle to ensure that there wasn't a firearm within the lunging distance of the car." (R29:18). Citing *State*

v. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 589 N.W. 2d 387 (1999), the State argued that the smell of marijuana in a vehicle is probable cause to believe marijuana is in the vehicle. (R29:24).

Suppression Decision

On July 20, 2018, the Honorable Thomas J. McAdams recited findings of fact and concluded:

Number one, there was reasonable suspicion to stop or approach Mr. Tubbs and get him out of the car; and two, once he was removed, the discovery of the digital scale on the floor and the smell of marijuana although that subject matter allowed the officer to search the immediate area for contraband or a gun. So I have to deny the motion.

(R30:8).

Plea and Sentencing

Deangelo D. Tubbs pled guilty to the possession of THC, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(e). (R11:1; 33:1-19).

This appeal, follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate review of a circuit court's order on a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶27, 259 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. First, this court upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous. *Id.* Second, this court independently applies constitutional principles to the facts. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court properly denied Tubbs' motion to suppress.

Factual findings by trial courts are reviewed based on a "clearly erroneous" standard of review. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has repeatedly held that a "circuit court's findings of fact [will be upheld] unless they are clearly

erroneous." *Phelps v. Physicians Ins.*, 2009 WI 74 ¶ 34, 319 Wis. 2d 1, 21, 768 N.W.2d 615. A finding of fact is "clearly erroneous" when it is "against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *Id.*, 319 Wis. 2d at 25. "Therefore, although evidence may have presented competing factual inferences, the circuit court's findings are to be sustained if they do not go against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *Id. Cogswell v. Robertshaw Controls Co.*, 87 Wis. 2d 243, 249, 274 N.W.2d 647 (1979) ("Findings of fact by the trial court will not be upset on appeal unless they are against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence."). This means that "to command a reversal, such evidence in support of a contrary finding must itself constitute the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *Id.*, 87 Wis. 2d at 249-50.

The Fourth Amendment to the United Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution establish the right of persons to be secure from unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 208. 589 N.W. 2d 387. Probable cause exists when there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. State v. Gant, 365 Wis. 2d 510, 518. 872 N.W.2d 137 (2015). Under an analysis of probable cause to arrest, the inquiry is whether the person to be arrested has committed a crime. 224 Wis. 2d at 209. To determine whether an officer had probable cause to arrest an individual, we examine the events leading up to the arrest, and then decide "whether these historical facts, viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to" probable cause. Maryland v. Pringle, 540 U.S. 366, 371 (2003) Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 696 (1996).

This case shares similarities with *State v. Secrist*. In *Secrist*, a New Berlin police officer was directing traffic during an Independence Day parade. *Id.*, 224 Wis. 2d at 204. The defendant, alone in his vehicle, drove up to the officer with the driver's side window open to ask directions. *Id.* The defendant was approximately two to three feet away from the officer when he began asking directions. *Id.* The officer immediately smelled a strong odor of marijuana coming from the automobile. *Id.* The officer recognized the odor from his police training and his frequent contact with marijuana over 23 years

of experience as a police officer. *Id*. After detecting the strong odor, the officer directed the defendant to pull his car over, placed the defendant under arrest, and conducted a search of the vehicle. *Id*., 224 Wis. 2d at 205. The search yielded a marijuana cigarette with an attached roach clip in the ashtray next to the driver's seat.

The trial court found that Officer Szczerba smelled a strong odor of marijuana, that this odor was coming directly from the area where the defendant was seated in the automobile, and that the defendant was the only occupant of the vehicle. *Id.* at 206. The Court of Appeals reversed the circuit court's decision and concluded that the odor of marijuana emanating from an automobile with a sole occupant did not establish probable cause to arrest. *Id.*, 224 Wis. 2d at 207. The Supreme Court recognized the unmistakable odor of marijuana coming from an automobile provides probable cause for an officer to believe that the automobile contains evidence of a crime. *Id.*, 224 Wis. 2d at 210.

It is important in these cases to determine the extent of the officer's training and experience in dealing with the odor of marijuana or some other controlled substance. *Id.*, 224 Wis. 2d at 216. The extent of the officer's training and experience bears on the officer's credibility in identifying the odor as well as its strength, its recency, and its source. *Id. Secrist* held the odor of a controlled substance may provide probable cause to arrest when the odor is unmistakable and may be linked to a specific person or persons because of the particular circumstances in which it is discovered or because other evidence at the scene or elsewhere links the odor to the person or persons. *Id.*, 224 Wis. 2d at 217-218.

A common sense conclusion when an officer smells the odor of a controlled substance is that a crime has probably been committed. *Id.*, 224 Wis. 2d at 218. The officer will have probable cause to arrest when the quantum of evidence within the officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed or was committing a crime.

Similarly, Officer Domine testified he had been a police officer with the City of Milwaukee for just over three years.

(R27:4). During his training and experience as an officer, he had come into contact with marijuana over 500 times. (R27:6). Officer Domine described that fresh marijuana is very particular and that there's nothing that smells exactly the same emitting that smell. (R27:6-7).

During his approach, Officer Domine was seated on his bicycle and was able to observe a firearm concealed below the window line located on the occupant's lap. (R27:12, R:27-19). When Officer Domine opened the car's door, he observed the odor of fresh marijuana coming from inside the vehicle. (R27:13). While speaking with Tubbs, Officer Domine observed a digital scale near his feet on the driver side floorboard. (R27:13) As a result of the detection of marijuana, Officer Domine searched the vehicle to further his investigation of suspected marijuana in the vehicle. (R27:15). During the search, Officer Domine located a glass mason jar of suspected marijuana in the closed center console of the vehicle. (R27:15-16, R:27-22).

The trial court correctly concluded there was reasonable suspicion to stop or approach Tubbs and remove him from the vehicle. (R30:8) Further, once Tubbs was removed, the discovery of the digital scale on the floor coupled with the smell of marijuana allowed the officer to search the immediate area for contraband or a gun. (R30:8). As a result, Judge McAdams denied Tubbs' suppression motion. (R30:8).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the State respectfully requests that this court uphold the circuit court's decision denying Tubbs' suppression motion.